14 Charles ILane
New York, N.Y. 10014
July 21, 1973

TO ALL ORGANIZERS AND NATIONAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dear Comrades,

On Wednesday, July 18 the Socialist Workers Party and the
Young Socialist Alliance announced a major suit and campaign against
the US government for illegal and unconstitutional acts against
the YSA and SWP. This suit was outlined in a report by Syd Stapleton
on June 9. A report on the press conference announcing the suit
and an open letter from Linda Jenness and Andrew Pulley are
featured in the Militant dated July 27. Enclosed is a copy of the
complaint and three articles from the New York coverage of the news
conference. Further information will be available at the party
convention. What follows are the initial proposals on activities
surrounding this suit and campaign.

As part of our socialist propaganda on the Watergate revelations,
the suit is designed to further the fight against infringements on
democratic and constitutional rights. The suit can receive broad
public support and it can provide a precedent and example for other
organizations subject to government attacks and harassment.

Since a major part of the suit is directed at the harassment
of SWP election activities, it can become an important aspect of
our campaigns. '

The Political Rights Defense Fund (PRDF) has been organized
as an adjunct of the Committee for Democratic Election Laws (CoDEL)
to build support for the suit and to raise funds. PRDF has retained
one of the country's foremost constitutional lawyers, Ieonard
Boudin, who gained national prominence in the Ellsberg case, as its
attorney. PRDF's initial press conference was well covered by the
media, and early fundraising efforts for PRDF have met with good
response,

We will want to actively help to establish PRDF units in each
area to carry on support activity. Initially this will include
obtaining individuals and groups as sponsors for PRDF, publicizing
the suit and raising funds. The fund raising will be especially
important, as PRDF estimates that its expenses will run to many
tens of thousands of dollars.

Wherever possible, local press conferences should be organized
to announce the suit and the initiation of the local PRDF. SWPers
and YSAers, especially candidates, should speak at news conferences
and other activities. A local representative of PRDF should also
speak.

Fall activity around the suit will include: our election
campaigns, Militant and YS coverage of the suit, and activities
oriented towards raising funds and building support for the PRDF.
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National tours are planned for spokespeople of the PRDF to speak
about the case to unions, student and faculty groups, newspaper
editors, news conferences and forums. Meetings can be set up with
major contributors and potential sponsors, and fundraising activities
should be planned to coincide with the tours. PRDF will want to
assemble authoritative lists of sponsors, and it will need to raise
tens of thousands of dollars. All these activities will make

the case a major area of fall activity for us. The suit will be
spread out for well over a year. PRDF estimates that the suit

will not come to trial for at least eight months.

The PRDF national staff now consists of Janice ILynn and Syd
Stapleton, and PRDF plans to expand before the fall.

There will be a workshop on this entire effort during the SWP
convention. PRDF literature, including a brochure, sponsor cards
and a printed version of the actual complaint will be ready at that
time., The workshop will discuss projected activities for the fall
with comrades from local areas who will be responsible for YSA and
SWP support to PRDF activities. Every local area should have some-
one assigned by the time of the convention. The political and
organiiational reports to the convention will cover this activity
as well.

Comradely,

il

TLew Jones ‘
SWP National-/Office
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The Socialist-Workers
Party has filed a $27.5 mil-
lion suit against President
Nixon, John W. Dean 3d,
Mitchell and other officials.
The suit charges violations
of Constitutional rights and
demands an end ito alleged
gaovernment harassment.

The suit cites instances of
firebombings, burglary and
wiretapping of  Sodcialist
Workers Party headquarters
at 14 Charles La., as well as

NEW YORK POST, WEDNESDAY, JULY 18, 1973

harassment and interrogation’

of individual party members.
It was filed on behalf of the
party by attorney Leonard
Boudin, former chief counsel
for Daniel Ellsberg, and, prior
10 that, for Eqbal Ahmed in
" the Harrisburg conspiracy
case.
‘Elections Conspiracy’
Boudin said that Nixon,
Mitchell,- Dean, H. R. Halde-
man, John Ehrlichman, the
director of the FBI, the Secre-
tary of the Treasury and the
Postmaster General consp'red
to prevent members of the
Socialist Workers Party from
participating in federal, state
and local elections on the
same basis as candidates of
other political parties.

Nixon, Et Al,
Sued for27.5M

“It might seem f{rrational :

for the Admidistration to

expend this much effort on :

a political party that clearly
had no chance of winning

the election,” said Boudin,

“put the more I learn of

Nixon, the Jess rational he

seems,

“In a sense we have

taken a similar action to the
ore taken by the Democrats

‘with the Watergate hear-

ings to -vindicate violation
of our rights,” Boudin con-
tinued.
seem as important, because
the Socialist Workers Party
is considerably smaller than
the Democratic or Republi-
can Parties, but violation ef
civil liberties often begins
with the suppression_of one
group. We hope other mirtor-
ity parties will follow our
lead, and take offensxve
actxon of their own.”

"In addition to demanding
an end to alleged harassment
by the current Administra-
tion, the suit will also enjoin

the courts to abolish the
1948 Attorney Generdl's list
of subversive  organizations, .

which Includes the Secialist
Workers Party.

“Qur suit .may not .
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= Nixon, Gnim

Sued for 2IM
By Socialists

The Socialist Werkers Periy
and the Young Socinlist Allianze:
sned President Nixon 2nd severs}
principals in ihe Watergate cuse

yesterdny for- $27.3 wiliiks, -
charging terrorism, blacklisting.

bugging, muil isvipering, bus-;

glary and harasgment.

Leonard Buudin, ene of I’ame}
Ellsberg’s Jawyers in ike Penta-

n case, is lhe aticyoey for the’
cft-wing groups. Among those
named a: defendanie In the cave,
in addition 1o Nizen, nre John
Mitchell, Jobn Diean 354, B.R.
Haldoman and Johr D. Ebdlich-
man.

“A Major Step”

Boudin suid  the Mankutlan
Federal- Conyt  soit ccuid be
“a major step in yeversing the
erosion of pn}mca! snd civilt B
erties.” He rauid ibe party. had
had its beadquarters bombed tnd
burned, its camypaign ifices tor-;
g)arized, and its members snd.
supporlers denied empicyment.

“All the avuiluble irndormz- -
tion fixes the responsibility fex
these acte with the federsd gov-
ernment, and itx varjeos “‘aniy-
subversive” subdivisions, Eoudin
raid, :

Speaking n his Jaw office. $¢
E. 420 St.. Boudin vefesred fo
the Watergnte discicsaves snd
said: “For many yeare the Secial-
jst Workers Pariy sod the Yeung
Socialist Alliance have been sube
%’ ected to specific cifensive zels

y the government. New the fos
litical situailion seeras ¢ have
changed, and we think it appri-
priate to take the ffeinsive”

—Jumes Ryan

‘THE NEW YORK TIMES, THURSDAY, JULY 19, 1973

2 Socialist Groups
Sue Nixon and Aides

Over ‘Harassment’

By ARNOLD H. LUBASCH
The Sociallst Workers par-

POLITICAL RIGHTS ty filed a lawsuit in Federal

DEFENSE FUND

150 5th Avenue,
Suite 737

NY, NY 10011
2’12/69’! 3495

icourt here yesterday, seeking
‘more than $27-million in dam-

ages from President Nixon and
other Government officials on
charges of violating the party’s

constitutional rights wtih ille-

gal - activities related to the
Watergate affair. -

Linda Jenness, the party’s
1972 Presidential
said that the lawsuit was part
of a drive to expose and end
what she termed “the use of

secret police and other police-

state measures against those
groups and individuals that the
rulers of this country consider
to be enemies.”

candidate,

The suit by the party, the

‘Young Socialist Alliance and

several members contended that

:the Government had engaged in
‘a “systematic campaign of ex-

cessive interrogation, employ-
ment discrimination and other
harassment” that impaired the
party’s ability to participate
effectively in Federal, state and
local elections.

Injunction Sought

A permanent injunction is
sought to restrain the Govern-
ment from “interrogating, sur-
ve ing, threatening, enticing or

affecting the employment of
Socialist Workers party mem-
bers or supporters” because of
the party affiliation.

The suit, which also seeks to

!emom wiretapping, momtonng
of mail and breaking into party

offices, requests an order to

Comperisatory and punitive
damages against President

‘Nixon, former Attorney Gen-

eral John' N. Mitchell, John W.
Dean 3d, former counsel to the
President, and ‘several other
present or former officials are
sought for the Socialist Work-
ers party, its members and sup-
porters.

Leaders of the party an-

‘nounced the action at a news

conference in the law offices of
Leonard B. Boudin at 30 Eas’
42d Street.

strike the Socjalist' Workers -

‘party from the Attorney Gen-
:eral’s list of subversive orgam-

zations.



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SOCIALIST WORKERS PARTY, YOUNG SOCIALIST
ATLLIANCE, LINDA JENNESS, ANDREW PULLEY
CHRISTY WALLACE DEBORAH P. BUSTIN,®
MACEO DIXON, DAN FEIN, CRAIG HONTS,
NORMAN OLIVER, ROBERTA L. SCHERR, JANE
VAN DEUSEN, CHARLES BOLDUC, JAMES P.
CANNON, DUNCAN GORDON, ALICE P. WOZNACK,
and ELLARD M. YOW, JR., on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

COMPLAINT -

CLASS ACTION

-against-

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY, SECRETARY OF
DEFENSE, POSTMASTER.GENERAL, SECRETARY

OF THE ARMY, DIRECTOR OF THE FEDERAL
BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION, DIRECTOR OF
CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE, DIRECTOR OF SECRET
SERVICE, DIRECTOR OF DEFENSE INTELLIGENCE
AGENCY, DIRECTOR OF NATIONAL SECURITY
AGENCY, DIRECTOR OF ALCOHOL, TOBACCO AND
FIREARMS DIVISION ( U.S. TREASURY ),
DIRECTOR OF SELECTIVE SERVICE SYSTEM,
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSIONERS, MEMBERS OF
THE UNITED STATES BOARD OF PAROLE,
RICHARD M. NIXON, ROBERT C. MARDIAN,

JOHN MITCHELL, JOHN W. DEAN, III, H.
ROBERT HALDEMAN JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

TOM CHARLES HUSTON, JACOB NOGI, and
UNKNOWN AGENTS OF THE UNITED STATES : :
GOVERNMENT,

Defendants

Plaintiffs, by their attorneys, allege:



1. This case arises under the Constitution, Artic%e
1, Section 2, and Amgndments I, IV and V, under 18 U.S.C. 2520
and under 42 U.S.C. 1985(3). Jurisdiction is conferred by
28 U.S.C. 1331 (a) and 1343(1), (2) and (4).

2. The amount in controversy exceeds $#10,000 exclusive
of interest and costs.

3. Class Action Allegations:

(a) This is a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P.23(b)
(2) and (3). The plaintiff class contains approximately 100,000
members consisting of all post--1948 members and supporters of
the Socialist Workers Party, and all post-1948 members and
supporters of the Socialist Workers Party for elective public
office and their supporters, including as supporters all post-
1960 members of the Young Socialist Alliance;

(b) The named plaintiffs include the Socialist Workers
Party and the Young Socialist Alliance, as well as members and
candidates of the Socialist Workers Party and members of the
Young Socialist Alliance. With respect to the subject matter
of this action, the interests of the named plaintiffs are typical
of and coextensive with those of all class members;

(¢c) Questions of law and fact common to the class
include: whether defendants conspired to deprive all clags
members of their constitutional rights under Article 1, 2 and
the First and Fifth Amendments to participate in the electoral
process as candidates and supporters on an equal basis with
members, candidates and supporters of other political parties;
and whether, independently of such conspiracy, some or all -
defendants have engaged in illegal acts of blacklisting,
harassment, electronic surveillance, burglary, mail tampering
and terrorism in violation of the said rights of all class
members;

(d) There are no questions affecting only individual
class members except the extent of their damages;

(e) Except for a class action, the only alternative
for adjudication of the controversy is piecemeal litigation in’
hundreds of geographically scattered lawsuits with consequent
cost, delay and inconvenience to the parties, witnesses and
courts, as well as a risk of conflicting adjudication of similar
issues. Individual actions by class members would present the
same legal issues and would require the same proof (except as
to demages) as will the class action. On information and belief,
w0 litigation concerning this controversy is pending by or
against members of the class.

4, Plaintiff Socialist Workers Party (hereinafter
"SWP") is an unincorporated political party with members
throughout the United States. The National Office of SWP
is in New York City. SWP seeks to replace capitalism in the
United States with socialism. To further its objective, SWP
nominates candidates for public office and otherwise participates
in the electoral process at all levels of federal, state and
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local government. SWP candidates have competed in every presi-
dential election since 1948 and in hundreds of elections for
other federal, state and local offices. SWP's 1972 presidential
and vice presidential candidates appeared on ballots in 23
states. Thousands of SWP members have worked and are working

as campaigners for SWP candidates. SWP sues on behalf of itself,
its members and its past and present candidates for elective
public office.

5. Plaintiff Young Socialist Alliance (hereinafter
"YSA") is an unincorporated, nationwide organization of people
aged 29 and under. YSA's National Office is in New York City.
YSA shares SWP's objective of replacing American capitalism
with socialism. YSA has endorsed SWP candidates in every elec-
tion since 1960, and thousands of YSA members have worked and
are working on behalf of SWP candidates. YSA sues on behalf of
its2lf and its members in their capacity as supporters, cam-
paign workers and voters for SWP and its past and present can-
didates.

6. Plaintiff Linda Jenness is a member of SWP. She
was SWP's candidate for President of the United States in
1972. She resides in New York City.

7. Plaintiff Andrew Pulley is a member and National
Secretary of YSA. He was SWP's candidate for Vice President of
the United States in 1972. He resides in New York City.

8. Plaintiff Christy Wallace is a member of SWP. She
was SWP's 1972 candidate for U.S. House of Representatives in
the 17th District of Michigan. She resides in Detroit.

9. Plaintiff Deborah P. Bustin is a member of SWP.
She is SWP's candidate for Mayor of Atlanta, Georgia, in the
election to be held in November 1973. She resides in Atlanta.

10. Plaintiff Maceo Dixon is a member of SWP. He is
SWP's candidate for Mayor of Detroit, Michigan, in the elec-
tion to be held in November 1973. He resides in Detroit.

11. Plaintiff Dan Fein is a member of SWP. He is SWP's
candidate for Mayor of Houston, Texas, in the election to be
held in November 1973. He resides in Houston.

12. Plaintiff Craig Honts is a member of SWP. He is
SWP's candidate for Mayor of Seattle, Washington, in the elec-
tion to be held in November 1973%. He resides in Seattle.

13. Plaintiff Norman Oliver is a member of SWP. He is
SWP's candidate for Mayor of New York City in the election to
be held in November 1973. He resides in New York City.

14, Plaintiff Roberta L. Scherr is a member of SWP.
She is SWP's candidate for Mayor of Cleveland, Ohio, in the

3
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election to be held in November 1973. She resides in Cleve-
land.

15. Plaintiff Jane Van Deusen is a member of SWP. She
is SWP's candidate for Mayor of Minneapolis, Minnesota, in the
election to be held in November 1973. She resides in Minne-~ -
apolis.

16. Plaintiff James P. Cannon is a member of SWP and
was National Chairman of SWP until May 1972. He resides in
Los Angeles, California.

17. Plaintiff Charles Bolduc is a member of SWP. He
was Michigan organizer for SWP during the 1972 election cam-
paign. He resides in Los Angeles, California.

18. Plaintiff Duncan Gordon is a member of SWP. He
resides in San Mateo, California.

19. Plaintiff Alice P. Woznack is a member of SWP. She
is employed by the United States Government at the National
Institutes of Health in Bethesda, Md. She resides in Washing-
ton, D.C.

20. Plaintiff Ellard M. Yow, Jr. is a member of SWP..
He resides in Houston, Texas.

21. The above-named individual plaintiffs sue on be-
half of themselves and all other post-1948 members, candidates,
and supporters of SWP including all post-1960 members of YSA.

22. The following defendants are public officers of
the United States, sued in their official capacities (herein-
after "Public Officers"): Attorney General, Secretary of the
Treasury, Secretary of Defense, Post-Master General, Secre-
tary of the Army, Director of the Federal Bureau of Investi-’
gation, Director of Central Intelligence, Director of Secret
Service, Director of Defense Intelligence Agency, Director of
National Security Agency, Director of Alcohol, Tobacco and
Firearms Division (U.S. Treasury), Director of Selective Ser-
vice System, Civil Service Commissioners and Members of the
of the U.S. Board of Parole.

23. Defendant Richard M. Nixon is President of the
United States. He is sued in his official capacity and as an
individual.

24 . Defendant Robert C. Mardian resides in Phoenix,
Arizona. He was Assistant Attorney General of the United
States and Chief of the Internal Security Division of the
?gpgrtment of Justice from November 7, 1970, until March,

7 -

25. Defendant John Mitchell resides in New York City.
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Hg gas Attorney General of the United States from 1969 until
l 7 o

26. Defendant John W. Dean, III resides in Alexan-
dria, Virginia. He was Counsel to the President from 1970 to
April 30, 1973,

27. Defendant H. Robert Haldeman resides in Washington,
D.C. He was employed by the U.S. Government as White House
Chief of Staff from January 1969 to April 30, 1973.

28. Defendant John D. Ehrlichman resides in Great
Falls, Virginia. He was employed by the United States Govern-
ment as assistant to the President for domestic affairs from
January 1969 to April 30, 1973.

29. Defendant Tom Charles Huston resides in Indian-
apolis, Indiana. He was employed by the White House as re-
searcher, writer and coordinator of domestic security affairs
from 1969 until May 1971.

30. Defendant Jacob Nogi was, as of May 1970, Special
Agent in the San Francisco Field Office, Region I, 115th Mil-
itary Intelligence Group, 100 McAllister Street, San Francisco,
California. His present whereabouts are unknown.

31. The defendant Unknown Agents are employees and
former employees and agents of the United States Government.
Their number and their names are presently unknown to plain-
tiffs.

32. In preparation for both the 1972 and the 1973
elections (and many prior elections) the plaintiff and other
SWP candidates, the SWP, its members and supporters campaigned
and are campaigning for office by means of speaking to indiv-
iduals and assembled groups, distributing literature and or-
ganizing supporters and other workers to assist in the soli-
citation of support and votes.

33. During or about the year 1948 and continuously
thereafter, the defendant Public Officers and their prede-
cessors agreed, expressly and by adherence to a common design,
to cause agents of the U.S. government to engage in a system-
atic campaign of excessive interrogation, employment discrim-
ination and other harassment against SWP, its members, can-
didates and supporters (including members of YSA), and to spy
upon them systematically by means of warrantless electronic
surveillance, unauthorized opening and monitoring of mail,
burglary, ‘and by other illegal means.

34. Prior to and during the months of July through
November, 1970, defendants Nixon, Ehrlichman, Haldeman,
Mitchell, Dean, Huston, and Mardian, together with others
presently unknown, agreed to implement and expand the above
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described agreement and to cause government agents to intensify
their interrogation and harassment of SWP, its candidates,
members and supporters (including members of YSA) and to
intensify the use of warrantless electronic surveillance,
unauthorized opening and monitoring of mail, burglaries, and
other illegal tactics against plaintiffs.

35. The purpose of both of the above-dscribed agree-
ments or plans was and is to deny the SWP, its members, can-
didates and supporters the equal protection of the laws and
equal privileges and immunities under the law by preventing
them from running for and obtaining office (including the
offices of President, Vice-President and Members of Congress),
from supporting candidates and platforms for such offices,
and from otherwise participating in the electoral process and
exercising their freedoms of speech and association on an
equal basis with the Republican, Democratic, American, Con-
servative, and most other political parties and their members.

36. Pursuant to the above-described agreements or
plans, the defendant Public Officers and their predecessors,
and the defendants Nixon, Ehrlichman, Haldeman, Mitchell, Dean,
Huston and Mardian, together with their agents and others,
caused the events described in paragraphs 37 through 74 below.

37. On or about March 21, 1948, the then Attorney

General of the United States prepared and publicized a list

of organizations including SWP, which he described as "fascist,
communist or subversive, or as having adopted a policy of ad-
vocating or approving the commission of acts of force or
violence to deny others their rights under the Constitution

of the United States, or as seeking to alter the form of

overnment of the United States by unconstitutional means"
%hereinafter "Attorney General's List").

38. Because SWP is listed on the Attorney General's
List, the defendant Public Officers, their agents and others
systematically singled out and continue to single out SWP,
its members, candidates and supporters (including members of
YSA) and systematically subject them to a variety of handicaps.

39, Prior to and during the 1972 and 1973 election
campaigns, the defendant FBI Director and his agents system-
atically singled out for interrogation and surveillance the
SWP and hundreds of its members, supporters and candidates
for elective public office in New York City, Detroit, Seattle,
Los Angeles, Denver, Houston and other cities in the United
States.

40. The candidates, members and supporters were
singled out solely on the basis of their affiliation with SWP
or YSA and/or their support of SWP candidates for elective
office including the plaintiff candidates.



41. On hundreds of occasions during the 1972 and 1973
campaigns, the said agents contacted and interrogated these
members and supporters, their landlords, employers, parents
and friends, by telephone, personal interviews, mail and
message.

42, During typical interrogations FBI agents char-
acterized the SWP as "subversive" and "violent," and used
pressure, threats, bribery and other enticements in attempts
to induce SWP members and supporters to withdraw their support
from SWP and its candidates.

43. On many occasions FBI agents threatened to and
did disclose members' and supporters' SWP or YSA affiliation
to their families, employers, prospective employers, landlords
and others with the purpose and effect of provoking hostility
and discrimination against SWP members and supporters because
of their SWP or YSA affiliation.

44, On many occasions FBI agents attempted to induce
members and did induce supporters of SWP to become government
agents for the purpose of spying upon other members and sup-
porters and of interfering with lawful campaigning and organiz-
ing. '

45. The interrogation and other acts described above
were and are unrelated to detecting crime or to any other
legitimate FBI activity. :

46. Prior to and during the 1972 and 1973 election
campaigns agents of the defendant Civil Service Commissioners
systematically singled out many federal employees, including
Emily Rose Homonoff and plaintiff Alice P. Woznack, on the
basis of their affiliation with SWP or YSA and support of
SWP and its candidates for elective public office.

47, After singling out SWP members and supporters
among federal employees Commission agents questioned them in
detail regarding their party affiliations, party activities
and lawful support of candidates for public office, and Com-
mission agents further required the members and supporters to
answer the questions as a condition of continued federal
employment.

48, Prior to and during the 1972 and 1973 campaigns,
the U.S. Army systematically singled out servicemen and pro-
spective servicemen on the basis of their affiliation with
SWP or YSA and support of SWP candidates for elective public
office.

49, As a condition of joining or remaining in the
Army, the Army then required these servicemen and prospective
servicemen to initiate proceedings, present evidence and prove



that their party affiliations and support of candidates were
not illegal.

50. Prior to and during the 1972 and 1973 campaigns,
agents of the Selective Service System systematically singled
out selective service registrants on the basis of their af-
filiation with SWP or YSA or support of SWP candidates for
elective public office.

51. Selective Service agents then classified the said
registrants "Not qualified for Military Sexrvice" ("4-F") and
entered the said classification on the registrants permanent
records.

52. The Civil Service Commission, the Army and the
Selective Service System singled out SWP members and suppor-
ters (including YSA members), as described in Paragraphs 46-
51 above, because SWP is listed on the Attorney General's list.

53. The purpose and aggregate effect of the above-
described interrogation and other acts is to harass and in-
timidate SWP, its members, candidates and supporters (inclu-
ding members of YSA) and to impair their ability to attract
other supporters and to participate effectively in the federal,
state and local electoral process.

54. On November 2, 1970, Plaintiff Ellard M. Yow, Jr.
was paroled from federal custody in Houston, Texas by order
of the U.S. Board of Parole.

55. During preparations for the 1972 campaign in the
spring of 1971, plaintiff Yow lived in Houston, Texas, and
was then an active member and supporter of SWP.

56. On or about June 15, 1971, U.S. Parole Officer
Jesse Clark threatened plaintiff Yow with re-incarceration
or prolonged parole restrictions because of his political
affiliation with and activities on behalf of SWP and its can-
didates.

57. As a result of these threats plaintiff Yow re-
signed from the SWP on June 25, 1971, and thereafter ceased
openly to support and work for the party and its candidates
and prospective candidates until after his final release from
parole in March 1973.

58. On or about February 23, 1972, a repairman for the
Pacific Bell Telephone Company discoevered a wiretap on the
line of plaintiff James P. Cannon at his home in Los Angeles,
California.

59. On information and belief, defendant Unknown

Agents installed the wiretap and used it to intercept cam-'
Paign related and other communications of plaintiff Cannon
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.
and other plaintiffs.

60. On information and belief, prior to and through-
out the 1972 and 1973 election campaigns, Unknown Agents of
the defendant Public Officers have, without valid warrants
or other valid authority, used wiretaps and other electronic
listening devices to intercept confidential campaign-related
and other conversations to which members, supporters and can-
didates of SWP were parties in New York, Detroit, Seattle,
Los Angeles, Houston and other United States cities.

61l. On information and belief the said Unknown
Agents, other Unknown Agents, the defendant Public Officers
and the named individual defendants knew that plaintiffs'
communications were intercepted as described in Paragraphs
58-60 above, and they nevertheless disclosed the contents
of such intercepted communications to one another and to
others, and used the contents for various purposes.

62. On or about May 1, 1970, defendant Special Agent
Jacob Nogi opened and entered the United States mailbox of
plaintiff Duncan Gordon at 3866 18th Street in San Francisco,
California, without authorization, and removed and examined
letters addressed to plaintiff Gordon.

63. On information and belief, defendant Nogi com-
mitted the above-described act because plaintiff Gordon was
a member of SWP and a supporter of SWP candidates for elec-
tive public office.

64. On information and belief, prior to and through-
out the 1972 and 1973 election campaigns, agents of defendant
Postmaster General and other defendant Public Officers in
New York, Seattle, Los Angeles, Houston and other cities
opened, perused, copied and resealed first-class and other
mail addressed to the SWP, its officers, members, candidates
and supporters.

65. On information and belief, prior to and through-
out the 1972 and 1973 election campaigns, agents of defendant
Postmaster General and other defendant Public Officers in the
said cities have systematically recorded senders' names and
return addresses on mail addressed to the SWP, its officers,
members, candidates and supporters.

66. On or about October 31, 1971, unidentified per-
sons broke into SWP campaign headquarters located at 3737
Woodward in Detroit, Michigan, and removed lists of campaign
supporters, campaign contributors and subscribers to The Mil-
itant, a newspaper then supporting SWP candidates.

67. On or about February 1, 1972, unidentified per-
sons broke into the apartment of plaintiff Charles Bolduc
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located at 4225 Commonwealth Avenue in Detroit and removed a
membership list and other internal party records.

68. On or about May 24, 1973, unidentified persons
broke into the apartment of plaintiff Norman Oliver located
in Brooklyn, New York at 95 Eastern Parkway, #6E, and rifled
files containing correspondence, records and other documents
relating to the mayoralty campaign and other SWP business.

69. On information and belief, the persons who planned
and participated in the burglaries described in paragraphs
66-68 above, were agents of the F.B.I., the Treasury Department,
the CIA, the Department of Defense, the National Security
Agency, or agents of all of them,

70. On information and belief, defendants and their
agents have used and will continue to use the information ob-
tained by burglary to intensify their harassment of plain-
tiffs.

71. At midday on May 27, 1970, approximately twelve
men, including Mario Palaez, Reynaldo Castro and Reynaldo
Gonzalez, entered SWP's Southern California campaign head-
quarters at 1702 E. 4th Street, Ios Angeles, California,
terrorized four campaign workers with machine guns and other
weapons and used gasoline to set the premises and their con-
tents afire.

72. On information and belief the twelve men de-
scribed above were agents of the CIA or of other defendant
Public Officers.

73. A bomb exploded on March 12, 1971, in the Houston,
Texas, campaign headquarters of the SWP, terrorizing campaign
workers, destroying valuable papers and otherwise disrupting
campaign activities.

74. On information and belief, agents of the FBI,
CIA, Treasury Department or all of them had foreknowledge
of the above described bombing attack, and participated in
its planning and execution.

75. On information and belief, defendants Nixon,
Ehrlichman, Haldeman, Dean, Mitchell and Mardian knew that
some or all of the events described in paragraphs 38-74
above were about to occur.

76. The said defendants had power to prevent or aid
in the prevention of the occurrence of the said events, but
they neglected or refused to do so, and they further con-
cealed the occurrence of the said events and thereby facili-
tated their recurrence.

77. As a result of systematic FBI interrogation and
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surveillance, the Civil Service and Army policies of affiliation-
based interrogation and harassment, the anti-SWP policy of the
Board of Parole, the appearance of SWP on the Attorney General's
List, and the other government actions described above,
plaintiff's ability to participate effectively in the federal,
state and local electoral process prior to and during 1971 to
1973 and thereafter was and is seriously impaired in that fear
of similar or additional government or government-induced
harassment deters members and other potential supporters from
openly and freely joining and supporting SWP and its candidates.

78. As a result of being harassed, interrogated and
threatened with discharge from employment because of her
affiliation with SWP, plaintiff Alice P. Woznack sustained
damage to her First Amendment rights of expression and associa-
tion, in the amount of $25,000.00.

79. As a result of being coerced into resigning from
SWP and withdrawing from participation in the 1972 election
campaign, plaintiff Ellard Yow sustained damage to his First
Amendment rights of expression and association, in the amount
of $#50,000.

80. As a result of the intrusion into his mailbex, and
the removal and examination of its contents, plaintiff Duncan
- Gordon sustained damage to his Fourth Amendment right of pri-

vacy in the amount of $20,000.00.

8l. As a result of wiretapping and eavesdropping,
plaintiff Cannon, the SWP, its members, candidates and supporters
(including YSA members) have suffered and continue to suffer
damage to their Fourth Amendment rights of privacy in the
amount of $#1,000,000.00.

82. As a result of defendants' opening, reading, copy-
ing and otherwise surveilling their mail, plaintiff SWP and
its members, candidates and supporters (including YSA members)
have suffered loss of Fourth Amendment rights of privacy
valued in the aggregate at $1,000,000.00.

8%. As a result of the burglaries in Detroit and New
York City, plaintiffs Charles Bolduc and Norman Oliver, and
plaintiff SWP and its members, candidates and supporters
(including YSA members) sustained a loss of Fourth Amendment
rights of privacy valued in the aggregate at $5,000,000.00,
and the loss of documents and information valued at $10,000.00.

84. As a result of the bombing of SWP Houston head-
quarters, plaintiff SWP and its members sustained property
damage amounting to $3,000.00.

85. As a result of the burning of SWP Los Angeles head-
quarters, plaintiff SWP and its members sustained property damage
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amounting to $10,000.00.

86. As a result of all of the above described impairments
of their privacy and political freedom, and freedoms of
expression and association, plaintiff SWP, its members, candi-
dates and supporters (including YSA members) sustained damages
aggregating $10,000,000.00.

87. In singling out SWP members, candidates and suppor-
ters (including YSA members) because of their SWP or YSA
affiliation, and in interrogating, surveilling, threatening and
harassing them and their families, friends, landlords and employ-
ers so as to deter and prevent members, supporters and potential
supporters from giving their advocacy, work and financial support
to SWP and its candidates, the acts of defendants and their
agents were and are unlawful in that:

(a) They impair the freedom of SWP, YSA and their
members to associate as and with a minority political party
for the purpose of advancing common political beliefs, their
freedom to speak freely and their freedom to persuade others
to join their cause, all in violation of the First Amendment;

(b) They impair the freedoms of SWP and its candidates
to nominate and to be candidates for federal, state and local
elective office, in violation of the First Amendment; and

(¢c) They impair the effectiveness of the votes cast

SWP members and supporters (including YSA members) in behalf
of SWP candidates for federal office, in violation of Article I,
Sec. 2 of the Constitution.

88. By systematically identifying members of SWP and
YSA, and other supporters of SWP candidates, and by disclosing
their SWP affiliation or support to families, friends, landlords,
employers, and others, defendants and their agents deprive
plaintiffs of privacy and anonymity in their association with
the minority political party of their choice, in violation of
the First Amendment.

89. By singling out members, candidates and supporters
of SWP (but not other political parties) and interrogating,
surveilling, threatening and harassing them and their families,
friends, landlords and employers, defendants and their agents
have denied and are denying plaintiffs the equal protection of
the laws in violation of the Fifth Amendment.

90. By retaining the SWP on the Attorney General's List
(but not the Republican, Democratic, American, Conservative and
most other political parties) and by using the list as a basis
for interrogating, blacklisting and otherwise harassing SWP
members, candidates and supporters (including YSA members), the
acts of the defendants (including the defendant Attorney General)
were and are unlawful in that:

(a) they impair plaintiffs freedom to associate and

participate in the electoral process, in violation of the First
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Amendment; and
(b) they deny plaintiffs the equal protection of the
laws in violation of the Fifth Amendment.

91. By wiretapping and otherwise intercepting plaintiffs'
oral communications without valid authorization, and by dis-
closing and using the contents of the intercepted communications,
defendants acted and are acting unlawfully in that:

(a) They subject plaintiffs to unreasonable searches
and seizures in violation of the Fourth Amendment;

(b) They intercept, djisclose and use oral communica-
tions in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2520; and

(c) They deprive plaintiffs of privacy and anonymity
in their association with the minority political party of their
choice, in violation of the First Amendment.

92. By entering the mailbox of plaintiff Duncan Gor-
don without authorization, and by removing and examining his
mail, defendant Jacob Nogi subjected him to an unreasonable
search and seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

93. By opening, reading and copying plaintiffs' mail,
defendants and their agents subjected plaintiffs and still
subject them to unreasonable searches and seizures of their
papers and effects in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

94. By reading and copying plaintiffs' mail, and by
systematically recording the names and addresses of plaintiffs'
corresondents, defendants and their agents deprive plaintiffs
of privacy and anonymity in their political associations, in
violation of the First Amendment.

95. By breaking into SWP's Detroit headquarters, the

New York apartment of plaintiff Oliver and the Detroit apart-
ment of plaintiff Bolduc, and by perusing and stealing plain-
tiffs' membership lists and other confidential campaign docu-
ments, defendants and their agents acted unlawfully in that:

(a) They subjected plaintiffs to unreasonable searches
and seizures in violation of the Fourth Amendment; and

(b) They deprived plaintiffs of privacy and anon-
ymity in their political associations, in violation of the
First Amendment.

96. By burning SWP campaign headquarters in Los Angeles
and terrorizing the campaign workers, and by bombing SWP
campaign headquarters in Houston, as alleged in paragraphs
71-74 defendants through their agents impaired plaintiffs'
freedom to associate as a minority political party and to run
and campaign for party candidates for elective public office,
in violation of the First Amendment.

97. By making the agreements or plans and by causing

numerous acts to be done pursuant to the plans whereby plain-
tiffs were and are injured in their persons and property and
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prevented from exercising their rights, defendants Nixon, Ehr-
lichman, Haldeman, Mitchell, Dean, Caulfield, Mardian and
Huston, and the defendant _Public Officers and their predeces-
sors, violated 42 U.S.C. 8 1985 (3), in that their plans con-
stitute conspiracies:

(a) to deprive plaintiffs of the equal protection
of the laws by causing agents of the United States government
to conduct intensive interrogation, surveillance, harassment
and burglaries against the SWP, its members, supporters and
candidates, but not against the Republican, Democratic, Amer-
ican, Independent, Conservative and most other political par-
ties;

(b) to deprive plaintiffs of equal privileges and
immunities under the laws by preventing them from participat-
ing in the federal, state and local electoral process on the
same basis as the members and candidates of other political
parties;

(c) to use force, intimidation and threats to pre-
vent plaintiffs from casting their votes effectively and from
giving their support and advocacy in a legal manner toward
the election of lawfully qualified SWP candidates for Presi-
dent, Vice-President and members of Congress; and

(d) to injure SWP members on account of their ad-
vocacy of SWP candidates for federal office by damaging the
reputations of the members and by interfering with their rela-
tions with landlords and employers.

98. By failing or refusing to prevent the occurrence
of the events described in this complaint -~ although they
knew the said events were about to occur and although they
had power to prevent their occurrence -- defendants Nixon,
%hgléc ané Haldeman, Dean, Mitchell and Mardian violated 42

.S.C. 1986.

99. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and
are suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury
as described above unless defendants are restrained by order
of this court.

100. Plaintiffs have made no prior application for
relief in this or another court.

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs request judgment in the form
of:

(1) A permanent injunction restraining the defend-
ants, their agents, successors, privies and all
persons acting in concert with them or with
knowledge of this judgment from
(a) interrogating, surveilling, threatening, en-

ticing or affecting the employment of SWP
members or supporters because of their af-
filiation with or support of SWP or its
candidates;
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(b) inducing or attempting to induce members
or supporters to spy and inform upon SWP
or YSA;

(c) wiretapping or otherwise intercepting
plaintiffs' oral communications;

(d) singling out, opening, reading or copying
plaintiffs' mail;

(e) recording the names of plaintiffs' cor-
respondents or otherwise monitoring plain-
tiffs' mail;

(f) breaking into plaintiffs' premises;

(g) implementing any aspect of the plan agreed
upon in 1948 and since adhered to by the
defendant Public Officers and their prede-
cessors;

(h) implementing any aspect of the plan agreed
upon prior to and in 1970 by defendants
Nixon, Haldeman, Ehrlichman, Dean, Huston,
Mitchell and Mardian;

(2) A mandatory injunction ordering the defendant
Attorney General to strike the Socialist Workers
Party from the Attorney General's List;

(3) Damages payable jointly and severally by defend-
ants Nixon, Ehrlichman, Haldeman, Mitchell, Dean,
Huston and Mardian and by the defendant Unknown
Agents as follows:

(a) compensatory damages of $16,700,000.00 and
punitive damages of $10,000,000.00 allo-
cated among SWP and members of the plain-
tiff class;

(b) compensatory damages of $25,000.00 and
punitive damages of $25,000.00 to plain-
tiff Alice P. Woznack;

(¢) compensatory damages of $50,000.00 and
punitive damages of $50,000.00 to plain-
tiff Ellard M. Yow, Jr.;

(d) compensatory damages of $100,000.00 and
punitive damages of $100,000.00 to plain-
tiff James P. Cannon (but not less than
$100 for each day on which his oral com-
munications were intercepted, disclosed
or used);

(e) compensatory dameges of $100,000.00 and
punitive damages of $100,000.00 each to
plaintiffs Charles Bolduc and Norman
Oliver; and

(f) compenaatory damages of $23,000.00 to
plaintiff Socialist Workers Party;

(4) Compensatory damages of $20,000.00 and punitive
damages of $20,000.00 payable by defendant
Jacob Nogi to plaintiff Duncan Gordon;

(5) Costs, disbursements and attorneys' fees, payable
jointly and severally by all defendants;
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(6) Such other and further relief as may be just and
proper.

Dated: New York, N.Y.

July 18, 1973.

RABINOWITZ, BOUDIN & STANDARD

By: /s/ Leonard B. Boudin

A Member of the Firm
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
30 East 42nd Street
New York, New York 10017
212 - 0X - 7-8640

Leonard B. Boudin
Herbert Jordan

Of Counsel
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